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of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject
to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.  x  Yes   o  No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated filer. See definition of
�accelerated filer and large accelerated filer� in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).  o  Yes   x  No

The number of outstanding shares of the registrant�s common stock, par value $0.001 per share, as of November 1, 2007 was 30,657,305
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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

Metabasis Therapeutics, Inc.

Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except par value data)

September 30,
2007

December 31,
2006

(Unaudited)

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 13,194 $ 12,052
Securities available-for-sale 38,079 65,871
Trade accounts receivable 412 187
Prepaids and other current assets 1,397 1,303
Total current assets 53,082 79,413

Property and equipment, net 6,861 6,263
Other assets 174 179
Total assets $ 60,117 $ 85,855

Liabilities and stockholders' equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 551 $ 1053
Accrued compensation 2,915 1,711
Accrued liabilities 3,902 2,288
Deferred revenue, current portion 2,071 3,192
Current portion of long-term debt 1,692 1,761
Current portion of capital lease obligations 22 20
Total current liabilities 11,153 10,025

Deferred revenue, net of current portion � 1,630
Deferred rent 2,413 1,566
Long-term debt 4,591 3,908
Capital lease obligations, net of current portion 55 71
Other long-term liabilities 270 517
Total liabilities 18,482 17,717

Stockholders' equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 5,000 shares authorized at September 30, 2007
and December 31, 2006, no shares issued or outstanding � �
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 100,000 shares authorized at September 30,
2007 and December 31, 2006; 30,657 and 30,493 shares issued and outstanding at
September 30, 2007 and December 31, 2006, res ectivel 31 30
Additional paid-in capital 180,660 176,298
Accumulated deficit (139,134) (108,213)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 78 23
Total stockholders' equity 41,635 68,138

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 60,117 $ 85,855
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Metabasis Therapeutics, Inc.

Statements of Operations

(In thousands, except per share data)

(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2007 2006 2007 2006

Revenues:
Sponsored research $ 937 $ 525 $ 2,813 $ 1,575
License fees 1,417 530 4,550 1,364
Other revenue 299 � 320 31
Total revenues 2,653 1,055 7,683 2,970

Operating expenses:
Research and development 10,866 7,614 31,437 21,058
General and administrative 2,834 2,880 9,284 8,020
Total operating expenses 13,700 10,494 40,721 29,078

Loss from operations (11,047) (9,439) (33,038) (26,108)
Other income (expense):
Interest income 708 1,115 2,522 2,860
Interest expense (141) (86) (405) (273)
Total other income 567 1,029 2,117 2,587

Net loss $ (10,480) $ (8,410) $ (30,921) $ (23,521)

Basic and diluted net loss per share $ (0.34) $ (0.28) $ (1.01) $ (0.82)
Shares used to compute basic and diluted
net loss per share 30,650 30,263 30,552 28,575

See accompanying notes.
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Metabasis Therapeutics, Inc.

Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)

(Unaudited)

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2007 2006

Operating activities
Net loss $ (30,921) $ (23,521)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash  used in operating activities:
Stock-based compensation 3,938 2,699
Depreciation and amortization 1,496 1,141
Deferred rent 847 950
Amortization of discount and premium on securities available-for-sale (1,883) (265)
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Trade accounts receivable (225) 241
Other current assets (94) (85)
Other assets 5 �
Deferred revenue (2,751) (1,213)
Accounts payable (502) (1,068)
Accrued compensation and other liabilities 2,571 (8)
Net cash flows used in operating activities (27,519) (21,129)

Investing activities
Purchases of securities available-for-sale (63,977) (84,986)
Sales/maturities of securities available-for-sale 93,707 66,577
Purchases of property and equipment (2,094) (2,611)
Net cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities 27,636 (21,020)

Financing activities
Issuance of common stock, net 425 37,665
Principal payments on debt and capital lease obligations (1,447) (1,051)
Proceeds received from debt and capital lease obligations 2,047 3,126
Net cash flows provided by financing activities 1,025 39,740
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,142 (2,409)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 12,052 32,597
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 13,194 $ 30,188

Supplemental schedule of noncash investing and financing activities:

Net-share settlement of warrant $ 56 $ �

Unrealized gain on short-term investments $ 55 $ 89

Reclass of deferred compensation $ � $ 3,266

See accompanying notes.
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Metabasis Therapeutics, Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements

(Unaudited)

1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (�GAAP�)
and with the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (�SEC�) related to a quarterly report on Form 10-Q. Accordingly,
they do not include all of the information and disclosures required by GAAP for complete financial statements. The balance sheet at
December 31, 2006 has been derived from the audited financial statements at that date but does not include all information and footnotes
required by GAAP for complete financial statements. The interim financial statements reflect all adjustments which, in the opinion of
management, are necessary for a fair presentation of the financial condition and results of operations for the periods presented. Except as
otherwise disclosed, all such adjustments are of a normal recurring nature.

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to be consistent with current year presentation.

Operating results for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2007 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for
the year ending December 31, 2007. For further information, see the financial statements and notes thereto for the year ended December 31,
2006 included in our annual report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities as well as disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements.
Estimates also affect the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

The terms �Company� and �we� and �our� are used in this report to refer to Metabasis Therapeutics, Inc.

2. Comprehensive Loss

Statement of Accounting Financial Standard (�SFAS�) No. 130, Reporting Comprehensive Income, requires that all components of comprehensive
loss, including net loss, be reported in the financial statements in the period in which they are recognized. Comprehensive loss is defined as the
change in equity during a period from transactions and other events and circumstances from non-owner sources. The Company�s comprehensive
loss is as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2007 2006 2007 2006

Net loss $ (10,480) $ (8,410) $ (30,921) $ (23,521)
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale
investments 35 61 55 89
Comprehensive loss $ (10,445) $ (8,349) $ (30,866) $ (23,432)

3. Net Loss Per Share

The Company calculated net loss per share in accordance with SFAS No. 128, Earnings Per Share. Basic earnings per share (�EPS�) is calculated
by dividing the net loss by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period, without consideration for common stock
equivalents. Diluted EPS is computed by dividing the net loss by the weighted average number of common share equivalents outstanding for the
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period determined using the treasury-stock method. For purposes of this calculation, common stock subject to repurchase by the Company,
options and warrants are considered to be common stock equivalents and are only included in the calculation of diluted EPS when their effect is
dilutive. The total number of shares issuable upon exercise of stock options and warrants excluded from the calculation of diluted EPS since
they are anti-dilutive were 7,575,946 and 6,112,787 for the three months ended September 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively, and 7,262,816 and
5,768,612 for the nine months ended September 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
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Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2007 2006 2007 2006
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Actual:
Numerator:
Net loss $ (10,480) $ (8,410) $ (30,921) $ (23,521)
Denominator:
Weighted average common shares 30,652 30,379 30,573 28,724
Weighted average unvested common
shares subject to repurchase (2) (116) (21) (149)
Denominator for basic and dilutednet
loss per share 30,650 30,263 30,552 28,575
Basic and diluted net loss per share $ (0.34) $ (0.28) $ (1.01) $ (0.82)

4. Collaboration Agreements

In September 2007, the Company, Schering Corporation and Valeant Pharmaceuticals North America entered into an agreement to terminate the
agreements they entered into in December 2006 for the development and commercialization of pradefovir. The Company received a
non-refundable $1.8 million up-front license fee in the first quarter of 2007 when the agreements became effective. The Company will not
receive any additional payments related to these agreements and all rights to pradefovir have been returned to the Company subject to certain
milestone and royalty payments we may be required to make to Valeant should this product candidate be subsequently developed.

In October 2007, the sponsored research term of the Company�s collaboration agreement with Idenix Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (�Idenix�)
ended upon the first anniversary of the agreement in accordance with its terms.  The remaining rights and obligations of the agreement
will remain in effect.  The Company received approximately $3.0 million in license fees and sponsored research funding through
September 30, 2007 and is entitled to receive an additional $138,000 in sponsored research funding through the effective end of the
sponsored research term of the agreement in October 2007.
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5 New Accounting Pronouncements

On July 13, 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�) issued Interpretation No. 48 (�FIN 48�), Accounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes, an interpretation of FASB SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, to create a single model to address accounting for
uncertainty in tax positions. FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for income taxes by prescribing a minimum recognition threshold in which a tax
position be reached before financial statement recognition. FIN 48 also provides guidance on derecognition, measurement, classification, interest
and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. FIN 48 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006.
The Company adopted FIN 48 as of January 1, 2007, as required. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on the Company�s
results of operations or financial position.

At December 31, 2006, the Company had federal and California net operating loss (�NOL�) carryforwards of $91.9 million and $91.6 million,
respectively, expiring at various dates through 2019 and federal and state research and development (�R&D�) carryforwards of $3.7 million and
$3.2 million, respectively, expiring beginning in 2019. Utilization of the NOL and R&D carryforwards may be subject to a substantial annual
limitation due to ownership changes that have occurred previously or that could occur in the future provided by Sections 382 and 383 of the
Internal Revenue Code, as well as similar state and foreign provisions. The Company has not currently completed a study to assess whether a
change in control has occurred or whether there have been multiple changes in control since the Company�s formation due to the uncertainty as to
whether the Company would realize a benefit from the NOL�s and R&D credits, and the significant complexity and cost associated with such a
study. The Company has not undergone an audit by the Internal Revenue Service or state of California. Further, until a study is completed and
any limitation known, no amounts are being presented as an uncertain tax position under FIN 48.  Accordingly, the Company cannot at this time
determine whether its NOL�s and R&D carryforwards are subject to limitation, the amount that may be subject to limitation and therefore the
amount that should be presented as an uncertain tax position under FIN 48. However, based on the Company�s history of financings and
ownership changes these limitations could be significant.
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In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements. This standard defines fair value, establishes a framework for
measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. This statement is
effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, although earlier application is encouraged. 
Accordingly, this statement will be effective for the Company beginning with its 2008 fiscal year. The Company is in the process of determining
the effect, if any, the adoption of SFAS No. 157 will have on its results of operations and financial position.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities.  SFAS No. 159
permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value.  This statement is effective for financial
statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007.  Accordingly, this statement will be effective for the Company beginning
with its 2008 fiscal year.  The Company is in the process of determining the effect, if any, the adoption of SFAS No. 159 will have on its results
of operations and financial position.
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Item 2. Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
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You should read the following discussion and analysis together with our unaudited financial statements and the notes to those statements
included elsewhere in this quarterly report on Form 10-Q, as well as our audited financial statements and notes to those statements as of and for
the year ended December 31, 2006 included in our annual report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March
13, 2007. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. As a result of many factors, such as those set
forth under �Risk Factors� and elsewhere in this quarterly report on Form 10-Q and in our other filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements. Readers are cautioned not to
place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements speak only as of the date on which they are made, and we
undertake no obligation to update such statements to reflect events that occur or circumstances that exist after the date on which they are made.

Overview

We are a biopharmaceutical company focused on the discovery, development and commercialization of novel drugs by applying our proprietary
technology, scientific expertise and unique capabilities for targeting the liver and liver pathways. Our primary focus is on drugs to treat
metabolic diseases such as diabetes, hyperlipidemia and obesity, among others.  In the past, we have also worked on drugs to treat liver diseases
such as hepatitis and primary liver cancer, however, we are currently not seeking new drug candidates in that area.  We have established a broad
pipeline of product candidates and advanced research programs targeting large markets with significant unmet medical needs. We have
discovered all of our product candidates internally using our proprietary technologies.

We currently have four product candidates at the clinical stage of development.   These product candidates include our core metabolic disease
related product candidates MB07803 and MB07811, which are being developed as potential treatments for type 2 diabetes and hyperlipdemia,
respectively, and our non-core liver disease related product candidates pradefovir and MB07133 which have been developed as potential
treatments for hepatitis B and primary liver cancer, respectively.

Revised Strategic Plan

We have conducted an extensive review of the results of the Phase 2b clinical trial of our previously most advanced clinical stage product
candidate, CS-917, and have concluded that while it failed to achieve the trial�s primary endpoint there was evidence of efficacy observed in
patients with more advanced disease.  We also believe that the two dose groups evaluated in the trial were likely suboptimal.  We believe that
these results, combined with the extensive preclinical and clinical results previously generated with this class of drugs known as FBPase
inhibitors, support their continued development as a potentially important new class of drugs for the treatment of diabetes.  It is our expectation
that we and Daiichi Sankyo, Co. Ltd. (�Daiichi Sankyo�), our collaborative partner on CS-917, will subsequently agree to terminate our strategic
collaboration and return the rights to this product candidate to us.  We believe that our second generation FBPase inhibitor, MB07803, has been
designed with certain improvements which have the potential to address the shortcomings seen to date with CS-917.  Accordingly, we have
decided to concentrate our future internal clinical development efforts on MB07803 and not CS-917.  Therefore, we plan to discontinue any
further clinical development of CS-917.

In addition, in September 2007, we entered into an agreement with Schering Corporation and Valeant Pharmaceuticals North America to
terminate our agreements for the development and commercialization of pradefovir, our product candidate for the treatment of hepatitis B.  In
connection with this agreement, all rights to pradefovir were transferred back to us subject to certain milestone and royalty payments we may be
required to make to Valeant should this product candidate be subsequently developed.  These agreements were terminated as a result of
numerous factors, which may include recently reported adverse 24-month oral carcinogenicity studies of pradefovir in rats and mice.  At this
time, we do not intend to independently develop pradefovir and will seek a licensee to conduct the further development and commercialization
of this product candidate should we ultimately determine that such future development and commercialization is feasible.

As a result of these events, we have re-evaluated our current business strategy and revised our strategic plan.  Under our revised strategic plan
we will focus our internal resources primarily on our clinical, preclinical and discovery stage core metabolic disease related programs.  This
includes funding the further clinical evaluation of our core metabolic disease product candidates, MB07803 and MB07811 with a focus on
achieving key, near-term value-driving milestones.  Continued development of these core metabolic disease related product candidates thereafter
will require significant resources.
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Therefore, we plan to establish strategic collaborations for these product candidates at appropriate times to secure additional resources,
accelerate progress and share risk.  In addition, we plan to advance additional metabolic disease product candidates discovered by our research
group into clinical development either independently, or potentially with current or future strategic collaborators.

In order to reduce future expenses and to minimize the potential dilution associated with financing their internal development, we intend to
immediately seek licensees to assume the further development of our non-core liver disease related product candidates, MB07133 and
pradefovir.

By selectively funding only our core metabolic disease related product candidates, licensing our non-core liver disease related product
candidates and by seeking to offset current and future discovery, preclinical and clinical costs via additional strategic collaborations on our core
discovery, preclinical and clinical programs, our revised strategic plan has the potential to reduce current and future expenses and to provide
additional financial resources from license fees, milestones and potential strategic equity investments should we be successful in establishing
these additional collaborations and license agreements.  We expect to reduce costs even further by minimizing the previously planned general
growth of the company.  We are also evaluating the potential for additional debt financing.  We believe that these measures, if successful, along
with our existing resources will be sufficient to execute our revised strategic plan.

History of Losses, Prior Funding

We have incurred annual net losses since inception. As of September 30, 2007, our accumulated deficit was approximately $139.1 million. We
expect to incur losses for the next several years as we:

�  continue to develop our current and future core metabolic disease related clinical development candidates,

�  participate in the commercialization of our product candidates, if any, that receive regulatory approval and for
which we retain commercialization rights,

�  continue and potentially expand our research and development programs, and

�  acquire or in-license products, technologies or businesses that are complementary to our own.

We have a limited history of operations and, to date, we have not generated any product revenues. In addition to our initial public offering in
June 2004, our private placement of common stock and warrants in October 2005 and our registered direct offering of common stock in
March 2006, we have financed our operations and internal growth through private placements of preferred stock as well as direct payments of
sponsored research funding, license fees, milestone payments, equity investments from collaborative partners and, to a lesser extent, the sale of
common stock through our stockholder approved equity incentive plans.

Commercial, Manufacturing Rights, Risks

We currently do not have strategic collaborations in place related to our core metabolic disease related product candidates, MB07803 or
MB07811, and we are currently seeking license agreements related to our non-core liver disease related product candidates, pradefovir and
MB07133.  We retain worldwide commercialization rights to all of the compounds that we have generated from our past and current discovery
and preclinical stage programs, with the exception of any potential future product candidates covered by our collaborations with Merck &
Co., Inc. (�Merck�) and Idenix.  Our potential future agreements with strategic collaborators may include joint marketing or promotion
arrangements which may allow us to eventually co-market one or more of our product candidates through our own sales force or with a
co-promotion partner.  Alternatively, we may grant exclusive marketing rights to our collaborators in exchange for up-front fees, milestones and
royalties on future sales, if any.
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We will rely on our collaborators or third-party manufacturers to produce sufficient quantities of our product candidates for preclinical and
clinical studies and large-scale commercialization upon their approval.

Since we do not currently possess the resources necessary to independently develop and commercialize all of the potential product candidates
that may be based upon our technologies, we plan to enter into additional collaborative agreements to assist in the development and
commercialization of some or all of our product candidates. However, our
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discussions with potential collaborators may not lead to the establishment of new collaborations on acceptable terms, if at all, or it may take
longer than expected to establish new collaborations, leading to development and commercialization delays.

Our business is subject to significant risks, including the risks inherent in our ongoing clinical trials and the regulatory review and approval
process, the results of our research and development efforts, reliance on third parties for the development and commercialization of our product
candidates, competition from other products and uncertainties associated with obtaining and enforcing patent rights.

Research and Development

Our research and development expenses consist primarily of cash and stock-based compensation and other expenses for research and
development personnel, costs associated with preclinical development and clinical trials of our product candidates, facility costs, supplies and
materials, costs for consultants and related contract research and depreciation. We charge all research and development expenses to operations as
they are incurred.

Our development activities are focused on the clinical development of our core metabolic disease related product candidates MB07803 and
MB07811. Our activities related to our non-core liver disease related product candidates pradefovir and MB07133 are currently limited to
planning, consultation, design and other efforts preparatory to their potential future clinical development by licensees.  In addition, our research
activities include work on a variety of compounds in our other discovery and preclinical research programs. We are responsible for all costs
incurred for our product candidates and our discovery and preclinical research programs with the exception of the AMPK program partnered
with Merck and the hepatitis C program partnered with Idenix.  Our collaboration with Merck seeks to develop and
commercialize new products to treat several metabolic diseases including type 2 diabetes, hyperlipidemia and
non-alcoholic steatohepatitis, or NASH. Under the terms of our AMPK collaboration agreement with Merck, we have
received approximately $5.3 million in sponsored research funding through September 30, 2007 and are entitled to
receive approximately $1.0 million through the remaining three year sponsored research term ending in July 2008.
Our collaboration with Idenix seeks to develop and commercialize new products for the treatment of hepatitis C
infection. Our efforts and internal costs related to the hepatitis C collaboration with Idenix ceased upon completion of
its research term in October 2007.  Under the terms of this agreement, we have received approximately $3.0 million in
license fees and sponsored research funding through September 30, 2007 and are entitled to receive approximately
$138,000 in additional sponsored research funding for the remaining portion of the sponsored research term that
ended.

At this time, due to the risks inherent in the clinical trial process and given the early stage of development of our product candidates and lead
compounds from our research programs, we are unable to estimate with any certainty the costs we will incur in the continued development of
our product candidates for commercialization. Other than costs for outsourced services associated with our clinical programs, we generally do
not track our research and development expenses by project; rather, we track such expenses by the type of cost incurred. Due to these same
factors, we are unable to determine the anticipated completion dates for our current research and development projects. However, we expect our
research and development costs to be substantial and to potentially increase as we continue the development of our current product candidates
and continue to expand our research programs.

Generally, Phase 1 clinical trials can be expected to last from 6 to 18 months, Phase 2 clinical trials can be expected to last from 12 to 24 months
and Phase 3 clinical trials can be expected to last from 18 to 36 months. However, clinical development timelines vary widely, as do the total
costs of clinical trials and the likelihood of success. Although we are currently focused primarily on advancing MB07803 and MB07811 through
clinical development, we anticipate that we will make determinations as to which research and development projects to pursue and how much
funding to direct to each project on an ongoing basis in response to the scientific and clinical success of each product candidate, our ongoing
assessment of its market potential and consideration of our available financial resources.

The lengthy process of seeking regulatory approvals for our product candidates, and the compliance with applicable regulations, require the
expenditure of substantial resources. Any failure by us to obtain, or any delay in obtaining, regulatory approvals could cause our research and
development expenditures to increase and, in turn, have a material unfavorable effect on our results of operations. We cannot be certain when or
if any net cash inflow due to sales of any of our current product candidates will commence.
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General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries, stock-based compensation and other related costs for personnel in executive,
finance, accounting, business development, investor relations, information systems, legal and human resource functions. Other costs include
facility costs not otherwise included in research and development expenses, depreciation and professional fees for legal and accounting services.

Other Income (Expense)

Other income (expense) includes interest earned on our cash, cash equivalents and securities available-for-sale, net of interest expense on capital
lease obligations.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our financial statements, which have been prepared
in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make
estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities. We review our estimates on an on-going basis. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions
that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of
assets and liabilities. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. We believe the following
accounting policies to be critical to the judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our financial statements.

Revenue Recognition.  Our revenue recognition policies are in accordance with Securities and Exchange Commission
Staff Accounting Bulletin, or SAB, No. 104,  Revenue Recognition and Emerging Issues Task Force, or EITF, Issue
00-21, Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables. Our agreements generally contain multiple elements,
including access to our proprietary technologies and research and development services. Payments under our
collaborations are generally made in the form of up-front license fees, milestone payments and downstream royalties.
All fees are nonrefundable. Revenue from milestones is recognized when earned, provided that:

1)  the milestone event is substantive and its achievability was not reasonably assured at the inception
of the agreement, and

2)  collaborator funding, if any, of our performance obligations after the milestone achievement will
continue at a level comparable to before the milestone achievement.

If both of these criteria are not met, the milestone payment is recognized over the remaining minimum period of our performance obligations
under the agreement. Upfront, nonrefundable fees under our collaborations are recognized over the period the related services are provided.
Nonrefundable upfront fees not associated with our future performance are recognized when received. Amounts received for sponsored research
funding are recognized as revenues as the services are performed. Amounts received for sponsored research funding for a specific number of
full-time researchers are recognized as revenue as the services are provided, as long as the amounts received are not refundable regardless of the
results of the research project.

Clinical Trial Expenses.  Our clinical trials are often conducted under contracts with multiple research institutions and
clinical research organizations that conduct and manage clinical trials on our behalf. The financial terms of these
agreements are subject to negotiation and vary from contract to contract and may result in uneven payment flows.
Generally, these agreements set forth the scope of work to be performed at a fixed fee or unit price. Payments under
the contracts depend on factors such as the successful enrollment of patients or the completion of clinical trial
milestones. Expenses related to clinical trials generally are accrued based on contracted amounts applied to the actual
level of patient enrollment and activity according to the protocol. Other incidental costs related to patient enrollment
are accrued when known. If contracted amounts are modified based upon changes in the clinical trial protocol or scope
of work to be performed, we modify our accruals accordingly on a prospective basis.
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Stock-Based Compensation.   We grant equity based awards under three stockholder-approved share-based compensation
plans. We may grant options and restricted stock awards to employees, directors and consultants under our Amended
and Restated 2001 Equity Incentive Plan. We also grant awards to non-employee directors under our 2004
Non-Employee
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Directors� Stock Option Plan. All of our employees are eligible to participate in our 2004 Employee Stock Purchase Plan which provides a means
for employees to purchase common stock at a discount through payroll deductions. The benefits provided under all of these plans are subject to
the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standard, or SFAS, No. 123R, Share-Based Payment, which we adopted effective
January 1, 2006 under the modified prospective application method. The valuation provisions of SFAS No. 123R apply to new awards and to
awards that are outstanding on the adoption date and subsequently modified or cancelled.

We estimate the fair value of stock options granted using the Black-Scholes-Merton, or Black-Scholes, option valuation model. This fair value is
then amortized over the requisite service periods of the awards. The Black-Scholes option valuation model requires the input of subjective
assumptions, including the option�s expected life and price volatility of the underlying stock. Expected volatility is based on the weighted average
volatility of our stock factoring in daily share price observations and the historical price volatility of certain peers within our industry sector. In
computing expected volatility, the length of the historical period used is equal to the length of the expected term of the option and the share
purchase right. The expected life of employee stock options represents the average of the contractual term of the options and the weighted
average vesting period, as permitted under the simplified method, under SAB No. 107, Share-Based Payments.

As stock-based compensation expense is based on awards ultimately expected to vest, it has been reduced for estimated forfeitures. SFAS
No. 123R requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from
those estimates. Forfeitures were estimated based on historical experience. Changes in assumptions used under the Black-Scholes option
valuation model could materially affect our net loss and net loss per share.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued Interpretation No., or FIN, 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes. This interpretation requires that we recognize in our financial statements the impact of a tax position if that position is more likely than
not of being sustained on audit, based on the technical merits of the position. The provisions of FIN 48 are effective for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2006, with the cumulative effect of the change in accounting principle recorded as an adjustment to retained earnings. We
have adopted FIN 48 as of January 1, 2007, and compliance with this guidance did not have a significant impact on our results of operations or
financial position.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements. This standard defines fair value, establishes a framework for
measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. This statement is
effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, although earlier application is encouraged.  Accordingly,
this statement will be effective for the Company beginning with its 2008 fiscal year. We are in the process of determining the effect, if any, the
adoption of SFAS No. 157 will have on our results of operations or financial position.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities.  SFAS No. 159
permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value.  This statement is effective for financial
statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007.  Accordingly, this statement will be effective for the Company beginning
with its 2008 fiscal year.  We are in the process of determining the effect, if any, the adoption of SFAS No. 159 will have on our results of
operations or financial position.

Results of Operations

Comparison of the Three Months Ended September 30, 2007 and 2006

Revenues.    Revenues were $2.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2007, compared with $1.1 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2006. The $1.6 million increase was mainly due to increased sponsored research and license fee revenue as a result of our
hepatitis C collaboration with Idenix.

Research and Development Expenses.    Research and development expenses were $10.9 million for the three months ended September 30,
2007, compared with $7.6 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006. The $3.3 million increase was mainly due to increased
spending of $2.5 million in development expense for the MB07803, MB07811 and MB07133 programs, an increase of $0.6 million in payroll
and related benefits as a result of a higher average number of employees in the third quarter of 2007 as compared to the third quarter of 2006, an
increase of $0.1 million in non-cash
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stock-based compensation expense and an increase of approximately $0.1 million in occupancy related costs and depreciation expense.

General and Administrative Expenses.    General and administrative expenses were $2.8 million for the three months ended September 30, 2007,
compared with $2.9 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006. The $0.1 million decrease was mainly due to a decrease of
approximately $0.3 million in professional fees and other miscellaneous expenses offset by an increase of approximately $0.2 million in payroll
and related benefits as a result of a higher average number of employees in the third quarter of 2007 as compared to the third quarter of 2006.

Other Income (Expense).    Net interest income was $0.6 million for the three months ended September 30, 2007, compared to net interest
income of $1.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006. The $0.4 million decrease was a result of lower cash balances in the
third quarter of 2007 as compared to the third quarter of 2006.

Comparison of the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2007 and 2006

Revenues.    Revenues were $7.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2007, compared with $3.0 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2006. The $4.7 million increase was mainly due to increased license fee revenue as a result of the $1.8 million upfront license fee
we received from Schering and license fee and sponsored research revenue from our hepatitis C collaboration with Idenix.

Research and Development Expenses.    Research and development expenses were $31.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2007,
compared with $21.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006. The $10.3 million increase was mainly due to increased spending
of $6.3 million in development costs for the MB07803, MB07811 and MB07133 programs, an increase of $3.0 million in payroll and related
benefits as a result of a higher average number of employees in the first nine months of 2007 as compared to the first nine months of 2006, an
increase of $0.9 million in non-cash stock-based compensation expense and an increase of approximately $0.3 million in occupancy related costs
and depreciation expense.  The increase was offset by a decrease of approximately $0.1 million in other expenses.

General and Administrative Expenses.    General and administrative expenses were $9.3 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2007,
compared with $8.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006. The $1.3 million increase was mainly due to an increase of $0.6
million in payroll and related benefits as a result of a higher average number of employees in the first nine months of 2007 compared to the first
nine months of 2006, an increase of approximately $0.3 million in professional fees related to legal costs associated with patent and corporate
related matters and consulting services, an increase of $0.3 million in non-cash stock-based compensation and an increase of $0.2 million in
occupancy related costs and depreciation expense.  These increases were offset by a decrease of approximately $0.1 million in other expenses.

Other Income (Expense).    Net interest income was $2.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2007, compared to net interest income
of $2.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006. The $0.5 million decrease was a result of lower cash balances during the first
nine months of 2007 as compared to the first nine months of 2006.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since our inception, we have funded our operations primarily with $55.8 million in net proceeds from private equity financings and $107.5
million in net proceeds from our initial public offering in June 2004, a private placement of common stock and warrants in October 2005 and a
registered direct offering of common stock in March 2006 as well as from direct payments of sponsored research funding, license fees, milestone
payments, equity investments from collaborative partners and, to a lesser extent, the sale of common stock through our stockholder approved
equity incentive plans.

In April 2007, we filed an additional shelf registration statement to increase the amount of common stock and warrants available for issuance
under our existing shelf registration statement by approximately $40 million to a total of $75 million.  The additional shelf registration statement
was declared effective in May 2007.

In November 2006, we entered into a Committed Equity Financing Facility, or CEFF, with an institutional investor. Under the terms of the
CEFF, the investor is committed to providing us up to $50 million in funding from time to time for a period up to 36 months that commenced in
December 2006 through the purchase of newly-issued shares of our common stock. Subject to certain conditions, we may access capital under
the CEFF in tranches of up to the lesser of $10 million or:
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�  0.75% of our market capitalization if, at the time of the draw down of such tranche, our market capitalization
equals or exceeds $65 million but is less than $100 million,

�  1.00% of our market capitalization if, at the time of the draw down of such tranche, our market capitalization
equals or exceeds $100 million but is less than $175 million, and

�  1.50% of our market capitalization if, at the time of the draw down of such tranche, our market capitalization
exceeds $175 million.

If our market capitalization is less than $65 million, we will not have access to this capital.

The investor will purchase shares of our common stock pursuant to the CEFF at discounts ranging from 6% to 10%, depending on the average
market price of our common stock during an eight-day pricing period, provided that the minimum acceptable purchase price for any shares to be
issued to the investor during the eight-day pricing period is determined by the higher of $2.25 or 90% of our share price the day before the
commencement of each draw down. Pursuant to the agreement we filed a registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission
for the resale of the shares of common stock issuable in connection with the CEFF and the shares of common stock underlying the warrant
discussed below which became effective on December 22, 2006.

As of September 30, 2007, we had $51.3 million in cash and cash equivalents and securities available-for-sale as compared to $77.9 million as
of December 31, 2006, a decrease of $26.6 million. The decrease was primarily due to our use of approximately $27.6 million in cash to fund
ongoing operations.

As of September 30, 2007, we have financed through leases and loans the purchase of equipment and leasehold improvements totaling
approximately $12.1 million, of which $6.4 million was outstanding at that date. The loans are collateralized with the purchased equipment, bear
interest at rates ranging from approximately 8.0% to 12.85% and are due in monthly installments through October 2015. We expect to continue
to finance our capital expenditures through the use of debt.

As of September 30, 2007, we have not exercised our option to sell shares under the CEFF. In the event we determine that the need for an equity
financing is necessary to pursue specific strategic initiatives, that an equity offering under this agreement provides for more favorable terms and
results than what may be available through other financing vehicles at the time, and that the market will favorably support the additional equity
available, we may utilize our option to sell shares of common stock under this agreement.

We believe that our existing cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments will be sufficient to meet our projected operating requirements
through at least the next twelve months. Under our revised strategic plan we will focus our internal resources primarily on our clinical,
preclinical and discovery stage core metabolic disease related programs.  This includes funding the further clinical evaluation of our core
metabolic disease product candidates, MB07803 and MB07811, with a focus on achieving key, near-term value-driving milestones.  Continued
development of these core metabolic disease related product candidates thereafter will require significant resources.  Therefore, we plan to
establish strategic collaborations for these product candidates at appropriate times to secure additional resources, accelerate progress and share
risk.  In addition, we plan to advance additional metabolic disease product candidates discovered by our research group into clinical
development either independently, or potentially with current or future strategic collaborators

In order to reduce future expenses and to minimize the potential dilution associated with financing their internal development, we intend to
immediately seek licensees to assume the further development of our non-core liver disease related product candidates, MB07133 and
pradefovir.

By selectively funding only our core metabolic disease related product candidates, licensing our non-core liver disease related product
candidates and by seeking to offset current and future discovery, preclinical and clinical costs via additional strategic collaborations on our core
discovery, preclinical and clinical programs, our revised strategic plan has the potential to significantly reduce current and future expenses and to
provide additional financial resources from license fees, milestones and potential strategic equity investments should we be successful in
establishing these additional collaborations and license agreements.  We expect to reduce costs even further by minimizing the previously
planned general growth of the company.  We are also evaluating the potential for additional debt financings.  We believe that these measures, if
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successful, along with our existing resources will be sufficient to execute our revised strategic plan.
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However, we may not be successful in entering into additional collaboration agreements at the appropriate times or at all, in receiving milestone
or royalty payments under current or future agreements, or in entering into additional debt financing arrangements.  Accordingly, we may need
to augment the funding of our revised strategic plan with additional offerings of our equity securities (including our CEFF).  We cannot be sure
that funding will be adequate or that additional financing will be available when needed or that, if available, financing will be obtained on terms
favorable to us or our stockholders. Having insufficient funds may require us to delay, scale back or eliminate some or all of our research or
development programs or to relinquish greater or all rights to product candidates at an earlier stage of development or on less favorable terms
than we would otherwise choose. Failure to obtain adequate financing also may adversely affect our ability to operate as a going concern.

To the extent that we raise additional capital by issuing equity securities, our existing stockholders� ownership will be diluted. Any future debt
financing we enter into may involve covenants that restrict our operations. These restrictive covenants may include limitations on additional
borrowing, specific restrictions on the use of our assets as well as prohibitions on our ability to create liens, pay dividends, redeem our stock or
make investments. In addition, if we raise additional funds through collaboration and licensing arrangements, it may be necessary to relinquish
rights to our potential products or proprietary technologies, or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us.

The following summarizes our long-term contractual obligations as of September 30, 2007 (in thousands):

Payments Due by Period
Less than 1 to 3 4 to 5 After 5

Total 1 Year Years Years Years
Operating leases $ 25,062 $ 2,283 $ 5,725 $ 6,405 $ 10,649
Equipment financing 6,283 1,692 3,916 552 123
Purchase commitments 2,121 2,121 � � �
Capital leases 77 22 46 9 �
Total $ 33,543 $ 6,118 $ 9,687 $ 6,966 $ 10,772

We also enter into agreements with clinical sites and contract research organizations to conduct our clinical trials. We will make payments to
these sites and organizations based upon the number of patients enrolled and the length of their participation in the clinical trials. In addition,
under certain agreements, we may be subject to penalties in the event we prematurely discontinue performance under these agreements. At this
time, due to the variability associated with these agreements, we are unable to estimate with certainty the future costs we will incur.

We have entered into employment agreements with our executive officers and certain other key employees that, under certain circumstances,
provide for the continuation of salary if terminated for reasons other than cause, as defined in those agreements. These agreements generally
expire upon termination for cause or when we have met our obligations under these agreements. As of September 30, 2007, no events have
occurred resulting in the obligation of such payments.

Our future capital uses and requirements depend on numerous forward-looking factors. These factors may include but are not limited to the
following:

�  the rate of progress and cost of our clinical trials and other research and development activities,

�  the scope, prioritization and number of clinical development and research programs we pursue,

�  the costs of expanding or potentially restructuring our operations,

�  the terms and timing of any collaborative, licensing and other arrangements that we may establish,

�  the costs of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing any patent claims and other intellectual property rights,

�  the costs and timing of regulatory approvals,

�  the costs of establishing or contracting for manufacturing, sales and marketing capabilities,

Edgar Filing: METABASIS THERAPEUTICS INC - Form 10-Q

Item 2. Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 31



16

Edgar Filing: METABASIS THERAPEUTICS INC - Form 10-Q

Item 2. Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 32



�  the effect of competing technological and market developments, and

�  the extent to which we acquire or in-license new products, technologies or businesses.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This quarterly report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements that are based on our management�s beliefs and assumptions and on
information currently available to our management.  Forward-looking statements include information concerning our possible or assumed future
results of operations, business strategies, financing plans, competitive position, industry environment, potential growth opportunities, the effects
of future regulation and the effects of competition.  Forward-looking statements include all statements that are not historical facts and can be
identified by terms such as �anticipates,� �believes,� �could,� �estimates,� �expects,� �intends,� �may,� �plans,� �potential,� �predicts,� �projects,� �should,� �will,� �would�
or similar expressions.

Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause our actual results, performance
or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performances or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking
statements.  We discuss these risks in greater detail in the section entitled �Risk Factors� and elsewhere in this quarterly report on Form 10-Q and
in our other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, including our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2006.  Given these uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements.

Also, forward-looking statements represent our management�s beliefs and assumptions only as of the date of this quarterly report on Form 10-Q. 
Our actual future results may be materially different from what we expect.  Except as required by law, we assume no obligation to update these
forward-looking statements publicly, or to update the reasons actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these
forward-looking statements, even if new information becomes available in the future.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
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Our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the increase or decrease in the amount of interest income we can
earn on our investment portfolio. Our risk associated with fluctuating interest income is limited to our investments in interest rate sensitive
financial instruments. Under our current policies, we do not use interest rate derivative instruments to manage this exposure to interest rate
changes. We seek to ensure the safety and preservation of our invested principal by limiting default risk, market risk, and reinvestment risk. We
mitigate default risk by investing in short-term investment grade securities. While changes in our interest rates may affect the fair value of our
investment portfolio, any gains or losses are not recognized in our statement of operations until the investment is sold or if a reduction in fair
value is determined to be a permanent impairment.

We do not have any foreign currency or other derivative financial instruments.

Our long-term capital lease obligations bear interest at fixed rates and therefore we do not have significant market risk exposure with respect to
these obligations.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Edgar Filing: METABASIS THERAPEUTICS INC - Form 10-Q

Item 4. Controls and Procedures 34



We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange
Commission�s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chief executive
officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the
disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can
provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In reaching a reasonable level of assurance,
management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. In
addition, the design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can
be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all
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potential future conditions; over time, a control may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with
policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud
may occur and not be detected.

As required by the Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 13a-15(b), we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the
participation of our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, of the effectiveness of the design and
operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on the foregoing, our chief
executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance
level.

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during our most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

None.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

You should consider carefully the following information about the risks described below, together with the other information contained in this
quarterly report on Form 10-Q and in our other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, before you decide to buy or maintain an
investment in our common stock. We believe the risks described below are the risks that are material to us as of the date of this quarterly
report. If any of the following risks actually occur, our business, financial condition, results of operations and future
growth prospects would likely be materially and adversely affected. In these circumstances, the market price of our
common stock could decline, and you may lose all or part of the money you paid to buy our common stock. The risks
described below include certain revisions to the risks set forth in our annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2006 and our subsequent filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Risks Related to our Business

We are dependent on the success of one or more of our current product candidates and we cannot be certain that any of them will receive
regulatory approval or be commercialized.

We have expended significant time, money and effort in the development of our core metabolic disease related product candidates, MB07803
and MB07811, and our non-core liver disease related product candidates, pradefovir and MB07133. Clinical trials conducted to date have
provided initial evidence of safety with all of our product candidates and initial evidence of efficacy in certain of our product candidates. 
However, to date, no pivotal, adequate and well-controlled clinical trials designed to provide clinical and statistically significant proof of
efficacy, or to provide sufficient evidence of safety to justify approval, have been completed with any of our product candidates. All of our
product candidates will require additional development, including clinical trials as well as further animal studies to evaluate their toxicology,
carcinogenicity and pharmacokinetics and optimize their formulation, and regulatory clearances before they can be commercialized. Positive
results obtained during early development do not necessarily mean later development will succeed or that regulatory clearances will be obtained.
Our product development efforts may not lead to commercial drugs, either because our product candidates fail to be safe and effective or
because we have inadequate financial or other resources to pursue our product candidates through the clinical development and approval
processes. If any of our product candidates fail to demonstrate safety or efficacy at any time or during any phase of development, we would
experience potentially significant delays in, or be required to abandon, development of the product candidate.

We do not anticipate that any of our current product candidates will be eligible to receive regulatory approval and begin commercialization for a
number of years, if at all. Even if we were ultimately to receive regulatory approval for these product candidates, we and/or our potential future
partners, as applicable, may be unable to commercialize them successfully for a variety of reasons. These include, for example, the availability
of alternative treatments, lack of cost effectiveness, the cost of manufacturing the product on a commercial scale and the effect of competition
with other drugs. The success of our product candidates may also be limited by the prevalence and severity of any adverse side effects. If we fail
to commercialize one or more of our current product candidates, we may be unable to generate sufficient revenues to attain or maintain
profitability, and our reputation in our industry and the investment community may be damaged.

If development of our product candidates does not produce favorable results, we and our commercialization collaborators, as applicable, may
be unable to commercialize these products.

To receive regulatory approval for the commercialization of our core metabolic disease related product candidates MB07803 and MB07811, our
non-core liver disease related product candidates pradefovir and MB07133, or any other product candidates that we may develop, adequate and
well-controlled clinical trials must be conducted to demonstrate safety and efficacy in humans to the satisfaction of the Food and Drug
Administration, or FDA, in the U.S. and other regulatory agencies elsewhere in the world. In order to support marketing approval, these agencies
typically require successful results in one or more Phase 3 clinical trials, which our current product candidates have not yet reached and may
never reach.  In addition, regulatory approval of our product candidates may be affected by adverse results in animal studies conducted during
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clinical development to, among other things, evaluate their toxicology, carcinogenicity and pharmacokinetics and optimize their formulation.

The development process is expensive, can take many years and has an uncertain outcome. Failure can occur at any stage of the process. We
may experience numerous unforeseen events during, or as a result of, the development process that could delay or prevent commercialization of
our current or future product candidates, including the following:

�  clinical trials may produce negative or inconclusive results,

� animal studies conducted on product candidates during clinical development to, among other things, evaluate their toxicology and
pharmacokinetics and optimize their formulation may produce unfavorable results,

�  patient recruitment and enrollment in clinical trials may be slower than we anticipate,

�  costs of development may be greater than we anticipate,

�  our product candidates may cause undesirable side effects that delay or preclude regulatory approval or limit their
commercial use or market acceptance if approved,

�  collaborators who are responsible for development of our product candidates may not devote sufficient resources
to these clinical trials or other studies of these candidates or conduct them in a timely manner, or

�  we may face delays in obtaining regulatory approvals to commence a clinical trial.

Success in early development does not mean that later development will be successful because, for example, product candidates in later-stage
clinical trials may fail to demonstrate sufficient safety and efficacy despite having progressed through initial clinical testing.  For example, in
July 2007, we were informed by Daiichi Sankyo, our collaborative partner on CS-917, that results from a recently completed Phase 2b clinical
trial showed that this product candidate failed to achieve the primary endpoint of the clinical trial despite having successfully achieved the
primary endpoints of other, earlier clinical trials.  Based on these findings, we expect Daiichi Sankyo to discontinue all development efforts on
CS-917. Further, it is our expectation that we and Daiichi Sankyo will subsequently agree to terminate our strategic collaboration on CS-917 and
return the rights to this product candidate to us.  Therefore, we do not intend to further develop this product candidate.

Our clinical experience with our product candidates is limited, and to date our product candidates have been tested in less than the number of
patients that will likely need to be studied to gain regulatory approval. The data collected from clinical trials with larger patient populations may
not demonstrate sufficient safety and efficacy to support regulatory approval of these product candidates.

We currently do not have strategic collaborations in place for any of our current product candidates. Therefore, in the future, we and/or
any potential future collaborative partner will be responsible for establishing the targeted endpoints and goals for
development of our product candidates.  These targeted endpoints and goals may be inadequate to demonstrate the
safety and efficacy levels required for regulatory approvals. Even if we believe data collected during the development
of our product candidates are promising, such data may not be sufficient to support marketing approval by the FDA or
other regulatory agencies abroad. Further, data generated during development can be interpreted in different ways, and
the FDA or other foreign regulatory agencies may interpret such data in different ways than us or our collaborators.
Our failure to adequately demonstrate the safety and efficacy of our product candidates would prevent our receipt of
regulatory approval, and ultimately the commercialization of these product candidates.

Our product candidates may cause undesirable side effects that could delay or prevent their regulatory approval or commercialization or
have other significant adverse implications on our business.
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authorities for any or all targeted indications or adversely affect the
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marketability of any such product candidates that receive regulatory approval.  In turn, this could eliminate or limit our ability to commercialize
our product candidates and generate revenues from their sale.

For example, data from 24-month oral carcinogenicity studies of pradefovir in rats and mice showed that the incidence of rats or mice with
tumors was increased in the animals dosed with the highest dose levels tested and was slightly increased at the intermediate dose levels.  The
low dose levels were considered �no-effect� dose levels in both studies.  As a result of numerous factors which may include these findings, we
entered into an agreement with Schering Corporation and Valeant Pharmaceuticals North America to terminate our agreements for the
development and commercialization of pradefovir, and all commercial rights to pradefovir have been returned to us subject to certain milestone
and royalty payments we may be required to make to Valeant should pradefovir be subsequently developed.

Our product candidates could also exhibit adverse interactions with other drugs.  For example, in earlier clinical trials conducted by Daiichi
Sankyo, CS-917 was associated  with incidents of lactic acidosis in two patients when it was combined with metformin in a Phase 1 clinical
trial.  After extensive analysis, Daiichi Sankyo concluded that these incidents were likely due to significantly increased blood levels of
metformin.  CS-917 was also associated in a limited number of patients with episodes of hypoglycemia, asymptomatic lactate elevation as well
as lactate elevation with clinical symptoms that could be considered signs of lactic acidosis.  We are currently conducting clinical trials of our
second-generation product candidate for type 2 diabetes, MB07803, which works by the same mechanism as CS-917 and thus may be subject to
some or all of the same risks as CS-917.  To date, no incidents of lacticemia, lactic acidosis, hypoglycemia or other significant adverse side
effects have been observed in clinical trials of MB07803.

The unique nature of our proprietary technologies including HepDirect and NuMimetic may cause undesirable side effects in future clinical
trials or supportive animal studies.  In addition, our product candidates may have greater or lesser degrees of potential risk of undesirable side
effects relative to other product candidates based on the nature of their molecular targets and the various physiological responses associated with
those targets.  For example, MB07811 is a product candidate designed to exploit the beneficial hepatic effects of thyroid hormone mimetics
while avoiding toxicities related to systemic exposure  to these types of compounds.  If MB07811 is not successful in this regard, it could be
associated with undesirable side effects.

Undesirable side effects involving our product candidates may have other significant adverse implications on our business, for example:

•  we may be unable to obtain additional financing on acceptable terms, if at all,

•  our stock price could decline,

•  our collaborators may ultimately terminate development of our partnered products, may further decide not to
develop backup product candidates and may terminate our agreements,

•  if these agreements were terminated we may determine not to further develop the affected product candidates due
to resource constraints and may not be able to establish additional collaborations for their further development on
acceptable terms, if at all,

•  if we were to later continue the development of these product candidates and receive regulatory approval, earlier
findings may significantly limit their marketability and thus significantly lower our potential future revenues from
their sale,

•  we may be subject to product liability or stockholder litigation, and

•  we may be unable to attract and retain key employees.

In addition, if any of our product candidates receive marketing approval and we or others later identify undesirable side effects caused by the
product:

•  regulatory authorities may withdraw their approval of the product, or we may decide to cease marketing and sale
of the product voluntarily,
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•  we may be required to change the way the product is administered, conduct additional studies, change the labeling
of the product, or change the product�s manufacturing facilities, and

•  our reputation may suffer.

Any of these events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of the affected product or could substantially increase the
costs and expenses of commercializing the product, which in turn could delay or prevent us from generating significant revenues from the sale of
the product.

We are currently dependent on our collaborations with Merck and Idenix for the development and commercialization of
product candidates related to those collaborations, and we may be dependent on future collaborators for the
development of our current and future product candidates.  Events involving our collaborations with Merck and
Idenix, or any future collaborations could prevent us from developing and commercializing our product candidates
and achieving or sustaining profitability.

We have entered into two collaborations with Merck and a collaboration with Idenix. The first collaboration with Merck seeks to develop and
commercialize new products for the treatment of hepatitis C infection and the second seeks to develop and commercialize new products to treat
several metabolic diseases including type 2 diabetes, hyperlipidemia and non-alcoholic steatohepatitis, or NASH. Our collaboration with Idenix
seeks to develop and commercialize new products for the treatment of hepatitis C infection.  Although our collaborations with Merck and Idenix
have not yet yielded any product candidates, should they ultimately be successful, we will be dependent on Merck and/or Idenix, as applicable,
for further development and commercialization of any resulting product candidates. In October 2007, the sponsored research term of our
collaboration agreement with Idenix was ended upon the first anniversary of the agreement in accordance with its terms.  In addition, since we
do not currently possess the resources necessary to independently develop and commercialize all of the potential product candidates that may be
based upon our technologies, including MB07803, MB07811, pradefovir, and MB07133, we plan to enter into additional
collaborative agreements to assist in the development and commercialization of some or all of these product
candidates. However, our discussions with potential collaborators may not lead to the establishment of new
collaborations on acceptable terms, if at all, or it may take longer than expected to establish new collaborations,
leading to development and commercialization delays.

We have limited control over the amount and timing of resources that Merck, Idenix or any future collaborators devote to our programs or
potential product candidates. These collaborations with us may end or may be terminated or our collaborators may otherwise fail to conduct their
collaborative activities successfully and in a timely manner. Further, our collaborators may not develop product candidates that arise out of our
collaborative arrangements or devote sufficient resources to the development, manufacture, marketing or sale of these products. In the event that
one of our collaborations is terminated, and we believe that the continued development or commercialization of a product candidate or drug
compound covered by the collaboration is warranted, we may seek to obtain rights to develop and commercialize the product candidate or drug
compound, if we do not already have those rights. We would then determine whether to continue the development or commercialization of the
product candidate or drug compound independently or together with a new collaborator. However, in the event that we do not have sufficient
resources to independently develop or commercialize the product candidate or drug compound, and we cannot establish a new collaboration on
acceptable terms, we would be forced to discontinue its development or commercialization. For example, at this time, we do not intend
to independently develop pradefovir or MB07133and will seek new collaborations for the further development and
commercialization of these product candidates.

We and our present and future collaborators may fail to develop or effectively commercialize products or drug compounds covered by our
present and future collaborations if:

•  we do not achieve our objectives under our collaboration agreements,

•  our product candidates do not meet the primary endpoints of any clinical trials conducted on them or exhibit
undesirable side effects,

•  we are unable to obtain patent protection for the product candidates or proprietary technologies we discover in our
collaborations,
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•  our potential collaborators are less willing to expend their resources on our programs due to their focus on other
programs or as a result of general market conditions,

•  our collaborators become competitors of ours or enter into agreements with our competitors,

•  we or our collaborators encounter regulatory hurdles that prevent commercialization of our product candidates,

•  we develop products and processes or enter into additional collaborations that conflict with the business
objectives of our other collaborators,

•  consolidation in our target markets limits the number of potential collaborators, or

•  we are unable to negotiate additional collaboration agreements under terms satisfactory to us.

If we are unable to develop or commercialize our products as a result of the occurrence of any of these events, we may not be able to generate
sufficient revenues to achieve or maintain profitability.

Because our collaborations with Merck and Idenix may involve Merck�s or Idenix�s proprietary compounds, if Merck or Idenix terminate
development of product candidates we may not have the right to pursue development of these product candidates on our own.

The objective of our hepatitis C collaboration with Merck has been to discover product candidates for the treatment of this disease by applying
our technology to certain compounds provided by Merck. The funded research phase of this collaboration has ended. Merck has evaluated and
may continue to evaluate the drug compounds discovered under the research phase of the collaboration to determine if one or more will be
recommended for clinical development. If Merck so designates a product candidate and then subsequently terminates this collaboration before a
defined stage of development of that product candidate, which it may do without cause at any time upon 90 days� advance written notice to us,
we will not have any right to develop or commercialize that product candidate. In addition, if this collaboration with Merck terminates and
Merck successfully develops products based on these proprietary compounds without applying our technology, we will not be entitled to
milestone payments or royalties with respect to those products.

Our agreement with Merck to develop and commercialize new products to treat several metabolic diseases including type 2 diabetes,
hyperlipidemia and NASH may include the development of compounds owned or controlled by Merck. Accordingly, if Merck terminates this
collaboration, it may prove difficult for us to continue development of such compounds. Similarly, our agreement with Idenix to develop and
commercialize new products to treat hepatitis C infection may include the development of compounds owned or controlled by Idenix. In
October 2007, the sponsored research term of our collaboration agreement with Idenix ended upon the first
anniversary of the agreement in accordance with its terms.  While Idenix may not choose to develop the compounds
discovered during the research term, should it do so and then decide to terminate this collaboration, it may prove
difficult for us to continue development of such compounds.

Conflicts may arise between us and any of our collaborators that could delay or prevent the development or commercialization of our
product candidates.

Conflicts may arise between our collaborators and us, such as conflicts concerning the interpretation of clinical data, the achievement of
milestones or the ownership of intellectual property developed during the collaboration. If any conflicts arise with Merck, Idenix or any future
collaborators, they may act in their self-interest, which may be adverse to our best interests. Any such disagreement between us and a
collaborator could result in one or more of the following, each of which could delay or prevent the development or commercialization of our
product candidates, and in turn prevent us from generating sufficient revenues to achieve or maintain profitability:

•  unwillingness on the part of a collaborator to pay us research funding, milestone payments or royalties we believe
are due to us under our collaboration agreement,

•  uncertainty regarding ownership of intellectual property rights arising from our collaborative activities, which
could prevent us from entering into additional collaborations or independently pursuing the development and/or

Edgar Filing: METABASIS THERAPEUTICS INC - Form 10-Q

Item 4. Controls and Procedures 45



23

Edgar Filing: METABASIS THERAPEUTICS INC - Form 10-Q

Item 4. Controls and Procedures 46



commercialization of product candidates, or disagreements with our collaborators regarding the protection of intellectual property rights,

•  unwillingness on the part of a collaborator to keep us informed regarding the progress of its development and
commercialization activities or to permit public disclosure of the results of those activities, or

•  slowing or cessation of a collaborator�s development or commercialization efforts with respect to our product
candidates.

Based on findings in a recently completed Phase 2b clinical trial, we expect Daiichi Sankyo to discontinue all development efforts on CS-917.
Further, it is our expectation that we and Daiichi Sankyo will subsequently agree to terminate our strategic collaboration on CS-917 and return
the rights to this product candidate to us.  We may ultimately be unable to reach agreement with Daiichi Sankyo regarding the expected
termination of our strategic collaboration which could impact our future rights to CS-917, all of the clinical data that has been developed on the
product candidate and its underlying intellectual property.  We do not intend to further develop this product candidate.

Our efforts to discover product candidates beyond our current product candidates may not succeed, and any product candidates we
recommend for clinical development may not actually begin clinical trials.

We intend to use our proprietary technologies and our knowledge and expertise to develop and commercialize novel drugs to address some of
the world�s most widespread and costly chronic diseases. Our goal is to expand our clinical development pipeline by continuing to develop and
move additional new drug compounds into clinical development. However, the process of researching and discovering drug compounds is
expensive, time-consuming and unpredictable. Data from our current research programs may not support the clinical development of our lead
compounds or other compounds from these programs, and we may not identify any additional drug compounds suitable for recommendation for
clinical development. Moreover, any drug compounds we recommend for clinical development may not demonstrate, through preclinical testing,
indications of safety and potential efficacy, that such drug compounds warrant advancement into clinical trials. Such findings would potentially
impede our ability to maintain or expand our clinical development pipeline. Our ability to identify new drug compounds and advance them into
clinical development also depends upon our ability to fund our research and development operations, and we cannot be certain that additional
funding will be available on acceptable terms, or at all.

Delays in the commencement or completion of clinical trials could result in increased costs to us and delay our ability to generate significant
revenues.

Delays in the commencement or completion of clinical trials could significantly impact our product development costs. We do not know whether
planned clinical trials will begin on time or be completed on schedule, if at all. The commencement of clinical trials can be delayed for a variety
of reasons, including delays related to:

•  obtaining regulatory approval to commence a clinical trial,

•  reaching agreement on acceptable terms with prospective contract research organizations and clinical trial sites,

•  manufacturing sufficient quantities of a product candidate or other materials necessary to conduct the clinical trial,

•  obtaining institutional review board approval to conduct a clinical trial at a prospective site,

•  recruiting and enrolling patients to participate in a clinical trial, and

•  the failure of our collaborators to adequately resource our product candidates due to their focus on other programs
or as a result of general market conditions.

In addition, once a clinical trial has begun, it may be suspended or terminated by us, our collaborators, the FDA or other regulatory authorities
due to a number of factors, including:
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•  inspection of the clinical trial operations or clinical trial site by the FDA or other regulatory authorities resulting
in the imposition of a clinical hold,

•  unforeseen safety issues, or

•  lack of adequate funding to continue the clinical trial.

If we experience significant delays in the commencement or completion of clinical testing, our product development costs may increase, we may
lose any competitive advantage associated with early market entry and our ability to generate significant revenues may be delayed. In addition,
many of the factors that cause, or lead to, a delay in the commencement or completion of clinical trials may also ultimately lead to the denial of
regulatory approval of a product candidate.

We rely on third parties in connection with the development of our product candidates. If these third parties do not successfully meet their
obligations under our agreements, we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for or commercialize our product candidates.

We rely on third parties, such as contract research organizations, medical institutions, clinical investigators and contract laboratories, to assist in
the development of MB07803 and MB07811 and intend to rely on similar organizations to assist in the development of any other future product
candidates that we may develop for which a collaborator is not responsible for development.  At this time, we do not intend to independently
develop pradefovir or MB07133 and will seek licensees to conduct the further development and commercialization of these product candidates. 
We may rely on strategic collaborators for the development of our core metabolic disease related product candidates MB07803 and MB07811 in
the future.  If were are successful in entering into these future collaborations and license agreements, we will be dependent upon our
collaborative partners and licensees for the further development and commercialization of these product candidates.  Although our collaborations
with Merck and Idenix have not yet yielded product candidates, should they be successful, we will be dependent on Merck and/or Idenix, as
applicable, to conduct the development of any resulting product candidates.  If Merck, Idenix or these other third parties do not successfully
meet their obligations under our agreements, or if the quality or accuracy of the data they obtain is compromised due to the failure to adhere to
applicable protocols or for other reasons, clinical trials or other studies may be extended, delayed or terminated, and these product candidates
may not receive regulatory approval or be successfully commercialized.

Because our product candidates, research programs and collaborative efforts depend on our proprietary technologies, adverse events
affecting our proprietary technologies may delay or prevent the commercialization of our product candidates.

We used our NuMimetic technology to identify MB07803. We used our HepDirect technology to discover pradefovir, MB07811, MB07133 and
have applied it in certain other programs as well. We intend to use these and future proprietary technologies to expand our product pipeline in
the future. We also may leverage our HepDirect and other liver-targeting technology through strategic alliances and collaborations with other
companies, such as our hepatitis C collaborations with Merck and Idenix in which we applied our technology to certain Merck and Idenix
compounds. Our proprietary technologies are subject to many of the same risks as our product candidates, including risks related to:

•  obtaining and maintaining patent and trade secret protection for these technologies,

•  avoiding infringement of the proprietary rights of third parties,

•  the development of competing technologies by others, and

•  in HepDirect�s case, the safety and effectiveness of this technology in humans.

Because certain of our product candidates and research programs are dependent on our proprietary technologies, adverse events affecting our
proprietary technologies may in turn delay or prevent the development or commercialization of our product candidates, which could impede our
ability to generate revenues and achieve or maintain profitability.
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Our product candidates are subject to extensive regulation, which can be costly and time consuming, cause unanticipated delays or prevent
the receipt of the required approvals to commercialize our product candidates.

The clinical development, manufacturing, labeling, storage, record-keeping, advertising, promotion, export, marketing and distribution of our
product candidates are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA and other regulatory agencies in the U.S. and by comparable governmental
authorities in foreign markets. In the U.S., neither we, nor our collaborators, are permitted to market our product candidates until we or our
collaborators receive approval of a New Drug Application, or NDA, from the FDA or receive similar approvals abroad. The process of obtaining
these approvals is expensive, often takes many years, and can vary substantially based upon the type, complexity and novelty of the product
candidates involved. Approval policies or regulations may change. In addition, as a company, we have not previously filed NDAs with the FDA
or filed similar applications with other foreign regulatory agencies. This lack of experience may impede our ability to obtain FDA or other
foreign regulatory agency approval in a timely manner, if at all, for our product candidates for which development and commercialization is our
responsibility.

Despite the time and expense invested, regulatory approval is never guaranteed. The FDA or other foreign regulatory agencies can delay, limit or
deny approval of a product candidate for many reasons, including:

•  a product candidate may not be safe and effective,

•  FDA or other foreign regulatory agency officials may not find the data from preclinical testing and clinical trials
generated during development sufficient,

•  the FDA or other foreign regulatory agency may not approve of our third-party manufacturers� processes or
facilities, or

•  the FDA or other foreign regulatory agency may change its approval policies or adopt new regulations.

Any delay in obtaining, or inability to obtain, these approvals would prevent us from commercializing our product candidates.

Even if any of our product candidates receive regulatory approval, our product candidates may still face future development and regulatory
difficulties.

If any of our product candidates receive regulatory approval, the FDA or other foreign regulatory agencies may still impose significant
restrictions on the indicated uses or marketing of the product candidates or impose ongoing requirements for potentially costly post-approval
studies. In addition, regulatory agencies subject a product, its manufacturer and the manufacturer�s facilities to continual review and periodic
inspections. If a regulatory agency discovers previously unknown problems with a product, including adverse events of unanticipated severity or
frequency, or problems with the facility where the product is manufactured, a regulatory agency may impose restrictions on that product, our
collaborators or us, including requiring withdrawal of the product from the market. Our product candidates will also be subject to ongoing FDA
and other foreign regulatory agency requirements for the labeling, packaging, storage, advertising, promotion, record-keeping and submission of
safety and other post-market information on the drug. If our product candidates fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements, a
regulatory agency may:

•  issue warning letters or other notices of possible violations,

•  impose civil or criminal penalties or seek disgorgement of revenue or profits,

•  suspend regulatory approval,

•  suspend any ongoing clinical trials,

•  refuse to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications filed by us or our collaborators,

•  impose restrictions on operations, including costly new manufacturing requirements, or

Edgar Filing: METABASIS THERAPEUTICS INC - Form 10-Q

Item 4. Controls and Procedures 51



26

Edgar Filing: METABASIS THERAPEUTICS INC - Form 10-Q

Item 4. Controls and Procedures 52



•  seize or detain products or require a product recall.

In order to market any products outside of the U.S., we and our collaborators must establish and comply with numerous and varying regulatory
requirements of other countries regarding safety and efficacy. Approval procedures vary among countries and can involve additional product
testing and additional administrative review periods. The time required to obtain approval in other countries might differ from that required to
obtain FDA approval. The regulatory approval process in other countries may include all of the risks regarding FDA approval in the U.S.
Regulatory approval in one country does not ensure regulatory approval in another, but a failure or delay in obtaining regulatory approval in one
country may negatively impact the regulatory process in others. Failure to obtain regulatory approval in other countries or any delay or setback
in obtaining such approval could have the same adverse impact regarding FDA approval in the U.S., including the risk that our product
candidates may not be approved for all indications requested, which could limit the uses of our product candidates and adversely impact
potential royalties and product sales, and that such approval may be subject to limitations on the indicated uses for which the product may be
marketed or require costly, post-marketing follow-up studies.

If we and our collaborators fail to comply with applicable foreign regulatory requirements, we and our collaborators may be subject to fines,
suspension or withdrawal of regulatory approvals, product recalls, seizure of products, operating restrictions and criminal prosecution.

If our competitors have products that are approved faster, marketed more effectively or demonstrated to be more effective than ours, our
commercial opportunity will be reduced or eliminated.

The biotechnology and biopharmaceutical industries are characterized by rapidly advancing technologies, intense competition and a strong
emphasis on proprietary products. We face competition from many different sources, including commercial pharmaceutical and biotechnology
enterprises, academic institutions, government agencies and private and public research institutions. Due to the high demand for treatments for
liver and metabolic diseases, research is intense and new treatments are being sought out and developed by our competitors.

We are aware of many competitive products currently marketed or under development that are used to treat some of the diseases we have
targeted. If MB07803 is ultimately determined safe and effective and approved for marketing, it may compete for market share with established
therapies from a number of competitors, including large pharmaceutical companies. Such marketed products include, but are not limited to the
following classes:

•  metformin�a member of the biguanide drug class, related to guanidine and currently is the most widely prescribed
first line therapy for type 2 diabetes,

•  sulfonylureas�increase the secretion of insulin by the pancreas, thereby lowering the level of the sugar glucose in
the blood,

•  insulins�mimic insulin, the naturally occurring hormone made by the pancreas to control blood glucose levels,

•  PPARs�improve insulin sensitivity by activating certain genes involved in fat synthesis and carbohydrate
metabolism,

•  incretin mimetics�lower glucose levels by increasing the levels of certain naturally occurring hormones from the
pancreas, including glucagon-like peptide-1 or GLP-1, a peptide that facilitates the response of the pancreas and liver
to fluctuations in glucose levels by its action on pancreatic beta and alpha cells. Compounds in this class include
dipeptidyl peptidase IV or DPP-IV inhibitors, and BYETTA ® (exenatide) injection. DPP-IV is an enzyme in the
bloodstream that cleaves and inactivates GLP-1. Inhibition of DPP-IV thus increases the half-life of endogenous
GLP-1 by preventing cleavage and inactivation of GLP-1. BYETTA is an injectable medication that exhibits many of
the same glucose regulating actions of GLP-1. The overall effect of these compounds is to enhance glucose-dependent
insulin secretion and suppress inappropriate glucagon secretion,

•  alpha-glucosidase inhibitors�decrease the absorption of carbohydrates from the intestine, resulting in a slower and
lower rise in blood glucose throughout the day,
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•  combination therapies�combines metformin with members of several of the above-mentioned classes, particularly
sulfonylureas and PPARs.

Metformin is a drug that inhibits liver glucose production like MB07803 but does so through an unknown mechanism. Because it does not cause
weight gain, metformin is often prescribed as a first line therapy to obese patients with type 2 diabetes, who are reported to comprise more than
90% of patients newly diagnosed with type 2 diabetes. Generic forms of metformin have recently become available. Accordingly, unless
MB07803 demonstrates significant benefits when compared to metformin or demonstrates that it can be used in the patient population who do
not tolerate and/or adequately respond to metformin treatment, the price required to effectively compete with the generic form of metformin may
be so low that it may limit the market�s potential or make it uneconomical to market MB07803.  In addition, many companies are developing
novel therapies that target diabetes. These companies may develop and introduce products competitive with or superior to MB07803.

If pradefovir is ultimately determined safe and effective and approved for marketing, it may compete for market share with established therapies
from a number of competitors, including large pharmaceutical companies. Such marketed products include, but are not limited to the following
classes:

•  interferons�mimic interferon, the naturally occurring  infection-fighting immune substance produced by the body,

•  nucleoside analogues�chemically engineered nucleoside compounds that are converted inside cells into other
compounds that are structurally similar to the building blocks of DNA and RNA that interfere with the replication of
HBV, and

•  nucleotide analogues�chemically engineered nucleotide compounds that are converted inside cells into other
compounds that are structurally similar to the building blocks of DNA and RNA that interfere with the replication of
HBV.

A competitor to pradefovir may be Hepsera (adefovir dipivoxil), which is a nucleotide analogue currently marketed in the U.S. and Europe by
Gilead Sciences, Inc. Pradefovir and Hepsera are prodrugs of the same active drug, and therefore may directly compete. In order to effectively
compete with Hepsera, pradefovir may have to be significantly more beneficial or less expensive than Hepsera. In addition, marketed products
approved to treat HIV infections are being evaluated for their effectiveness in treating hepatitis B infections.

There are no currently approved drugs for primary liver cancer. However, some companies are developing novel therapies specifically for
primary liver cancer. Nexavar (sorafenib), a chemotherapy approved for the treatment of kidney cancer,  has been submitted for approval for the
treatment of patients with primary liver cancer and it may experience off-label use prior to its approval.

In addition, companies are developing therapies for other solid tumors which may be efficacious in treating primary liver cancer. These
companies may develop and introduce products competitive with or superior to MB07133.

If MB07811 is ultimately determined safe and effective and approved for marketing, it would compete with products marketed by several large
pharmaceutical companies that currently comprise a large share of the hyperlipidemia market. Major classes of hyperlipidemia drugs include,
but are not limited to:

•  statins�reduce serum cholesterol levels by inhibiting a key enzyme involved in the biosynthesis of cholesterol,

•  fibrates�reduce the amount of cholesterol and triglycerides (fatty substances) in blood,

•  nicotinic acid derivatives�lower cholesterol, triglycerides and low density lipoproteins and increase high density
lipoproteins,

•  CAIs�inhibit the absorption of dietary and biliary cholesterol,

•  bile acid sequestrants�bind with cholesterol-containing bile acids in the intestines and remove them in bowel
movements, and
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•  statin combination therapies�combine statins with members of the above-mentioned classes, particularly CAIs.

Several large pharmaceutical companies are also developing novel therapies that target hyperlipidemia. These companies may develop and
introduce products competitive with or superior to MB07811. Lipitor (atorvastatin; a statin marketed by Pfizer) is currently one of the best
selling prescription medicines. In addition, generic statins (cholesterol-reducers) have recently been approved in the major pharmaceutical
markets and would also compete with MB07811.

In addition, many other companies are developing products for the treatment of the diseases we are targeting and if successful, these products
could compete with our products. If we receive approval to market and sell any of our product candidates, we may compete with these
companies and their products as well as others in varying stages of development.

Many of our competitors have significantly greater financial resources and expertise in research and development, manufacturing, preclinical
testing, clinical trials, regulatory approvals and marketing approved products than we do. Smaller or early-stage companies may also prove to be
significant competitors, particularly through collaborative arrangements with large and established companies. Our competitors may succeed in
developing technologies and therapies that are more effective, better tolerated or less costly than any which we are developing, or that would
render our product candidates obsolete and noncompetitive. Our competitors may succeed in obtaining approvals from the FDA and foreign
regulatory authorities for their products sooner than we do for ours. We will also face competition from these third parties in recruiting and
retaining qualified scientific and management personnel, establishing clinical trial sites and patient registration for clinical trials, and in
acquiring and in-licensing technologies and products complementary to our programs or advantageous to our business.

We do not have internal manufacturing capabilities, and if we fail to develop and maintain supply relationships with collaborators or other
third-party manufacturers, we may be unable to develop or commercialize our products.

Our ability to develop and commercialize our products depends in part on our ability to manufacture, or arrange for collaborators or other third
parties to manufacture, our products at a competitive cost, in accordance with regulatory requirements and in sufficient quantities for
development and eventual commercialization.  We have relied on a number of suppliers to manufacture sufficient quantities of MB07803 and
MB07811 for use in clinical trials during development. Although our suppliers have manufactured other companies� products on a commercial
scale, we have not yet determined if they are capable of manufacturing our products on a commercial scale. We, our current and potential future
collaborators and third-party manufacturers may encounter difficulties with the small- and large-scale formulation and manufacturing processes
required to manufacture our product candidates, resulting in delays in our clinical trials development and regulatory submissions, in the
commercialization of our product candidates or, if any of our product candidates is approved, in the recall or withdrawal of the product from the
market. Further, development of large-scale manufacturing processes may require additional validation studies, which the FDA and other foreign
regulatory agencies must review and approve. Our inability to enter into or maintain agreements with collaborators or capable third-party
manufacturers on acceptable terms could delay or prevent the commercialization of our products, which would adversely affect our ability to
generate revenues and could prevent us from achieving or maintaining profitability.

We currently expect that in any future development activities related to MB07803 and MB07811, we will rely on our current suppliers to
manufacture these compounds. However, we do not have long-term supply agreements with these third parties, and we may not be able to enter
into new supply agreements with them in a timely manner or on acceptable terms, if at all. These third parties may also be subject to capacity
constraints that would cause them to limit the amount of these compounds that we can purchase. While we believe alternative sources to
manufacture these compounds are readily available, in the event we have to seek such alternative sources we will incur costs associated with
identifying and qualifying one or more alternate suppliers. In addition, any resulting interruption or delay we experience in the supply of
MB07803 or MB07811 may impede the development of these compounds.

In addition, we, our collaborators or other third-party manufacturers of our products must comply with current good manufacturing practices, or
CGMP, requirements enforced by the FDA and other foreign regulatory agencies through their facilities inspection programs. These
requirements include quality control, quality assurance and the maintenance of records and documentation. In addition, product manufacturing
facilities in California are subject to licensing requirements of the California Department of Health Services and may be inspected by the
California Department of Health Services, and other applicable regulatory authorities, at any time. We, our collaborators or other third-party
manufacturers of our products may be unable to comply with these CGMP requirements and with other FDA, state and foreign regulatory
requirements. We have little control over third-party manufacturers� compliance with these regulations and standards. A failure to comply with
these
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requirements may result in fines and civil penalties, suspension of production, suspension or delay in product approval, product seizure or recall,
or withdrawal of product approval.

If we are unable to establish sales and marketing capabilities or enter into agreements with third parties to sell and market our product
candidates, we may be unable to generate significant revenues.

We do not have a sales and marketing organization, and we have no experience as a company in the sales, marketing and distribution of
pharmaceutical products. Although our hepatitis C and metabolic disease collaborations with Merck have not yet yielded product candidates,
should they be successful, Merck will be responsible for worldwide marketing and commercialization of any resulting product candidates
(subject to, in the case of our metabolic disease collaboration, our option to co-promote the product in the U.S. with certain financial assistance
from Merck). Similarly, should our hepatitis C collaboration with Idenix be successful, Idenix will be responsible for worldwide marketing and
commercialization of any resulting product candidates. In order to co-promote any of these products, or to commercialize MB07803, MB07811,
pradefovir, MB07133 or any future product candidates for which we retain commercialization rights, we may be required to develop our sales,
marketing and distribution capabilities, or make arrangements with a third party to perform these services. Even though we may receive financial
assistance from Merck if we exercise our U.S. co-promotion option under the metabolic disease collaboration, developing a sales force for any
resulting product or any product resulting from any of our other product candidates is expensive and time consuming and could delay any
product launch. We may be unable to establish and manage an effective sales force in a timely or cost-effective manner, if at all, and any sales
force we do establish may not be capable of generating sufficient demand for our product candidates. To the extent that we enter into
arrangements with collaborators or other third parties to perform sales and marketing services, our product revenues are likely to be lower than if
we directly marketed and sold our product candidates. If we are unable to establish adequate sales and marketing capabilities, independently or
with others, we may not be able to generate significant revenues and may not become profitable.

The commercial success of our product candidates depends upon their market acceptance among physicians, patients, healthcare payors and
the medical community.

Even if our product candidates obtain regulatory approval, our products, if any, may not gain market acceptance among physicians, patients,
healthcare payors and the medical community. The degree of market acceptance of any of our approved product candidates will depend on a
number of factors, including:

•  our ability to provide acceptable evidence of safety and efficacy,

•  relative convenience and ease of administration,

•  the prevalence and severity of any adverse side effects,

•  restrictions on use in combination with other products,

•  availability of alternative treatments,

•  pricing and cost effectiveness assuming either competitive or potential premium pricing requirements, based on
the profile of our product candidates and target markets,

•  effectiveness of our or our partners� sales and marketing strategy, and

•  our ability to obtain sufficient third-party coverage or reimbursement.

We are subject to uncertainty relating to health care reform measures and reimbursement policies which, if not favorable to our product
candidates, could hinder or prevent our product candidates� commercial success.

The continuing efforts of the government, insurance companies, managed care organizations and other payers of health care costs to contain or
reduce costs of health care may adversely affect:
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�  our ability to generate revenues and achieve or maintain profitability,

�  the future revenues and profitability of our potential customers, suppliers and collaborators, and

�  the availability of capital.

In certain foreign markets, the pricing of prescription drugs is subject to government control. In the U.S., given recent federal and state
government initiatives directed at lowering the total cost of health care, Congress and state legislatures will likely continue to focus on health
care reform, the cost of prescription drugs and the reform of the Medicare and Medicaid systems. For example, the Medicare Prescription Drug,
Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 provides a Medicare prescription drug benefit that began in 2006 and mandates other reforms.
While we cannot predict the full outcome of the implementation of this legislation, it is possible that the new Medicare prescription drug benefit,
which will be managed by private health insurers and other managed care organizations, will result in decreased reimbursement for prescription
drugs, which may further exacerbate industry-wide pressure to reduce prescription drug prices. This could harm our ability to market our
products and generate revenues. It is also possible that other similar proposals will be adopted.

Our ability to commercialize our product candidates successfully will depend in part on the extent to which governmental authorities, private
health insurers and other organizations establish appropriate coverage and reimbursement levels for the cost of our products and related
treatments. Third-party payors including state governments are increasingly challenging the prices charged for medical products and services.
Also, the trend toward managed health care in the U.S., which could significantly influence the purchase of health care services and products, as
well as legislative proposals to reform health care or reduce government insurance programs, may result in lower prices for our product
candidates or exclusion of our product candidates from coverage and reimbursement programs. The cost containment measures that health care
payors and providers are instituting and the effect of any health care reform could significantly reduce our revenues from the sale of any
approved product.

We may need to decrease the size of our organization, and we may experience difficulties in managing those organizational changes.

Since we became an independent company in 1999, we have increased the number of our full-time employees from 50 to 137 as of September
30, 2007.  We may need to decrease the number of our full-time employees in the future in response to adverse business events.  Reducing our
workforce may lead to additional unanticipated attrition.  If our future staffing is inadequate because of additional unanticipated attrition or
because we failed to retain the staffing level required to accomplish our business objectives we may be delayed or unable to continue the
development or commercialization of our product candidates, which could impede our ability to generate revenues and achieve or maintain
profitability.

If we fail to attract and keep key management and scientific personnel, we may be unable to successfully develop or commercialize our
product candidates.

Our success depends on our continued ability to attract, retain and motivate highly qualified management and scientific personnel. The loss of
the services of certain principal members of our management or scientific staff could delay or prevent the commercialization of our product
candidates. We employ these individuals on an �at-will� basis and their employment can be terminated by us or them at any time, for any reason
and with or without notice, subject to the terms of their stock restriction agreements and severance agreements.

Competition for qualified personnel in the biotechnology field is intense. We will need to hire additional personnel as we establish and/or
expand our sales, manufacturing, research and development activities in the future. We may not be able to attract and retain quality personnel on
acceptable terms given the competition for such personnel among biotechnology, pharmaceutical and other companies.

We have established a scientific advisory board, the members of which assist us in formulating our research, development and clinical strategies.
These scientific advisors are not our employees and may have commitments to, or consulting or advisory contracts with, other entities that may
limit their availability to us. In addition, our scientific advisors may have arrangements with other companies to assist those companies in
developing products or technologies that may compete with ours.
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We have limited experience in identifying, completing and integrating acquisition targets, and if we do not successfully integrate any future
acquisitions, we may incur unexpected costs and disruptions to our business.

An important part of our business strategy is to continue to develop a broad pipeline of product candidates. In addition to our internal drug
development efforts, we may seek to expand our product pipeline, at the appropriate time and as resources allow, by acquiring products or
businesses or in-licensing technologies that we believe are a strategic fit with our business and complement our existing product candidates and
research programs. Future acquisitions, however, may entail numerous operational and financial risks including:

�  exposure to unknown liabilities,

�  disruption of our business and diversion of our management�s time and attention to developing acquired products or
technologies,

�  incurrence of substantial debt or dilutive issuances of securities to pay for acquisitions,

�  higher than expected acquisition and integration costs,

�  increased amortization expenses,

�  difficulty and cost in combining the operations and personnel of any acquired businesses with our operations and
personnel,

�  impairment of relationships with key suppliers or customers of any acquired businesses due to changes in
management and ownership, and

�  inability to retain key employees of any acquired businesses.

We have limited experience in identifying acquisition targets, successfully completing potential acquisitions and integrating any acquired
products, businesses or technologies into our current infrastructure. Moreover, we may devote resources to potential acquisitions that are never
completed or fail to realize the anticipated benefits of any acquisition.

Risks Related to our Finances and Capital Requirements

We have a history of net losses, which we expect to continue for the foreseeable future, and we are unable to predict when we will become
profitable, if ever.

We have incurred net losses from our inception. As of September 30, 2007, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $139.1 million. 
While we are unable at this time to determine whether our net losses will increase or decrease in the future, we expect to continue to incur net
losses during the next several years as we conduct operations.  Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties
associated with our product development efforts, we are unable to predict when we will become profitable, if ever.

We currently lack a significant continuing revenue source and may not become or remain profitable.

Our ability to become and remain profitable depends upon our ability to generate continuing revenues. To date, our product candidates and
strategic collaborations have not generated any significant revenues, other than one-time or time-limited payments associated with our
collaborations such as milestone payments and option fees. Our ability to generate significant continuing revenues depends on a number of
factors, including:

�  successful completion of ongoing development activities for our product candidates,

�  achievement of regulatory approval for our product candidates,
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�  successful sales, manufacturing, distribution and marketing of our products.

We do not anticipate that we will generate significant continuing revenues for several years. If we are unable to eventually generate significant
continuing revenues, we will not become or remain profitable, and we may be unable to continue our operations.

We will need substantial additional funding and may be unable to raise capital when needed, which would force us to delay, reduce or
eliminate our research and development programs or commercialization efforts and affect our ability to continue as a going concern.

We believe that our existing cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments will be sufficient to meet our projected operating requirements
through at least the next 12 months. Because we do not anticipate that we will generate significant continuing revenues for several years, if at all,
we will need to raise substantial additional capital to finance our operations in the future. Our additional funding requirements will depend on,
and could increase significantly as a result of, many factors, including:

�  the rate of progress and cost of our clinical trials and other research and development activities,

�  the scope, prioritization and number of clinical development and research programs we pursue,

�  the terms and timing of any collaborative, licensing and other arrangements that we may establish,

�  the costs of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing any patent claims and other intellectual property rights,

�  the costs and timing of regulatory approvals,

�  the costs of establishing or contracting for sales and marketing capabilities,

�  the effect of competing technological and market developments, and

�  the extent to which we acquire or in-license new products, technologies or businesses.

Until we can generate significant continuing revenues, if ever, we expect to satisfy our future cash needs through public or private equity
offerings, debt financings, grants or corporate collaboration and licensing arrangements, as well as through interest income earned on cash
balances.

We cannot be certain that additional funding will be available on acceptable terms, or at all. If adequate funds are not available, we may be
required to delay, reduce the scope of or eliminate one or more of our research and development programs or our commercialization efforts and
we may be unable to continue as a going concern.

Raising additional funds by issuing securities or through collaboration and licensing arrangements will cause dilution to existing
stockholders, restrict our operations or require us to relinquish proprietary rights.

We may raise additional funds through public or private equity offerings, our CEFF, debt financings, grants or corporate collaboration and
licensing arrangements. For example, we have effective shelf registration statements on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission
which allow us to issue shares of our common stock and warrants to purchase our common stock in the future for an aggregate initial offering
price of up to $75 million.

We have also filed a registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission covering the resale of shares issuable under the CEFF
though to date, no shares have been issued under this resale registration statement.  We may sell additional securities from time to time in one or
more offerings in amounts, at prices and on terms that we will determine at the time of the offering. To the extent that we raise additional capital
by issuing equity securities, pursuant to our effective shelf registration statements or otherwise, our existing stockholders� ownership will be
diluted.

Any debt financing we enter into may involve covenants that restrict our operations. These restrictive covenants may include limitations on
additional borrowing, specific restrictions on the use of our assets as well as prohibitions on our ability
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to create liens, pay dividends, redeem our stock or make investments. In addition, if we raise additional funds through collaboration and
licensing arrangements, it may be necessary to relinquish potentially valuable rights to our potential products or proprietary technologies, or
grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us.

Our quarterly operating results and stock price may fluctuate significantly.

We expect our operating results to be subject to quarterly fluctuations. The revenues we generate, if any, and our operating results will be
affected by numerous factors, including:

•  the development status of our product candidates, including results of our clinical trials and other studies,

•  our recommendation of additional drug compounds for clinical development,

•  our addition or termination of research programs or funding support,

•  variations in the level of expenses related to our product candidates or research programs,

•  our execution of collaborative, licensing or other arrangements, and the timing of payments we may make or
receive under these arrangements, and

•  changes in the use assumptions or the use of different valuation methods in the application of SFAS No. 123R in
future periods.

Quarterly fluctuations in our operating results may, in turn, cause the price of our stock to fluctuate substantially. We believe that quarterly
comparisons of our financial results are not necessarily meaningful and should not be relied upon as an indication of our future performance.

Our CEFF may not be available to us if we elect to make a draw down, may require us to make additional �blackout� or other payments to
an institutional investor and may result in dilution to our stockholders.

In November 2006, we entered into the CEFF with an institutional investor. The CEFF entitles us to sell and obligates the investor to purchase,
from time to time over a period of up to 36 months which commenced in December 2006, shares of our common stock at a discount of up to
10% for cash consideration up to an aggregate of $50.0 million, subject to specified conditions and restrictions. The investor will not be
obligated to purchase shares under the CEFF unless specified conditions are met, which include a minimum price for our common stock; a
minimum amount of our market capitalization, the accuracy of representations and warranties made to the investor; compliance with laws; and
the effectiveness of a registration statement registering for resale the shares of common stock to be issued in connection with the CEFF. In
addition, among other termination rights, the investor is permitted to terminate the CEFF by providing written notice to us within 10 business
days after it obtains actual knowledge that an event has occurred resulting in a material and adverse effect on our business, operations, properties
or financial condition (subject to specified exceptions, including conditions or events that are reasonably expected to occur in the ordinary
course of our business).  If we are unable to access funds through the CEFF, or if the investor terminates the CEFF, we may be unable to access
capital on favorable terms, or at all.

We are entitled, in certain circumstances, to deliver a �blackout� notice to the investor to suspend the use of the prospectus covering the shares of
common stock issued in connection with the CEFF and prohibit the investor from selling shares under that prospectus for a certain period of
time. If we deliver a blackout notice in the 15 trading days following the settlement of a draw down, or if the registration statement covering the
resale of the shares of common stock to be issued in connection with the CEFF is not effective in circumstances not permitted by our registration
rights agreement with the investor, then we must make a payment to the investor, or issue the investor additional shares in lieu of this
payment, calculated on the basis of a specified number of shares held by the investor immediately prior to the
blackout period and the change in the market price of our common stock during the period in which the use of the
resale registration statement is suspended. If the trading price of our common stock declines during a suspension of
the resale registration statement, the blackout or other payment could be significant.

Should we sell shares to the investor under the CEFF, or issue shares in lieu of a blackout payment, it will have a dilutive effect on the holdings
of our current stockholders.
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Risks Related to our Intellectual Property

Our success depends upon our ability to protect our intellectual property, including the proprietary technologies and compounds used in our
business.

Our commercial success depends on obtaining and maintaining patent protection and/or trade secret protection of our product candidates,
proprietary technologies and their uses, as well as successfully defending any patents that issue against third-party challenges. We may only be
able to protect our product candidates, proprietary technologies and their uses from unauthorized use by third parties to the extent that valid and
enforceable patents or trade secrets cover them.

The filing, prosecution and defense of patents at pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies can be highly uncertain and involve complex
legal and factual questions for which important legal principles remain unresolved. No consistent policy regarding the breadth of claims allowed
in biotechnology patents has emerged to date in the U.S. The biotechnology patent situation outside the U.S. is even more uncertain. We may be
particularly affected by this because we expect that pradefovir and MB07133, if approved, will be marketed in foreign countries with high
incidences of HBV and primary liver cancer, respectively. Decisions or actions regarding patent filing and/or changes in either the patent laws or
in interpretations of patent laws in the U.S. and other countries may diminish the value of our intellectual property.

Decisions or actions regarding patent filing are complex and we may not be successful in protecting our products from competition. Patent
positions for products are highly uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions which may ultimately be decided to the detriment of
our products� competitive positions� in the U.S. and these other countries. We may not be able to develop patentable products or processes in the
U.S. and these other countries, and may not be able to obtain patents from pending applications. Even if patent claims are allowed in the U.S.
and these other countries, the claims may not issue, or in the event of issuance, may not be sufficient to protect the technology owned by or
licensed to us. Any patents or patent rights that we obtain in the U.S. and other countries may be circumvented, challenged or invalidated by our
competitors. In addition, we are dependent on outside patent firms for advice and action regarding our efforts to secure patents. Should these
firms fail to take appropriate action to secure or enforce our patents in a timely manner, or should they provide us with incorrect or inappropriate
advice it could be detrimental to our patent positions.

Accordingly, we cannot predict the breadth of claims that may be allowed or enforced in our patents or in third-party patents in the U.S. and
other countries.

The degree of future protection for our proprietary rights is uncertain because legal means afford only limited protection and may not adequately
protect our rights or permit us to gain or keep our competitive advantage. For example:

�  we might not have been the first to make the inventions covered by each of our pending patent applications and
issued patents,

�  we might not have been the first to file patent applications for these inventions,

�  others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicate any of our technologies,

�  it is possible that none of our pending patent applications will result in issued patents,

�  our issued patents may not provide a basis for commercially viable products, may not provide us with any
competitive advantages, or may be challenged by third parties,

�  our issued patents may not be valid or enforceable,

�  we may not develop additional proprietary technologies that are patentable, or

�  the patents of others may have an adverse effect on our business.

Proprietary trade secrets and unpatented know-how are also very important to our business. Although we have taken steps to protect our trade
secrets and unpatented know-how, including entering into proprietary information and inventions agreements with our employees and

Edgar Filing: METABASIS THERAPEUTICS INC - Form 10-Q

Item 4. Controls and Procedures 68



consultants and entering into confidentiality agreements with other third parties to whom

35

Edgar Filing: METABASIS THERAPEUTICS INC - Form 10-Q

Item 4. Controls and Procedures 69



we disclose our proprietary information, third parties may still obtain this information without our knowledge and consent. Enforcing a claim
that a third party illegally obtained and is using our trade secrets or unpatented know-how is expensive and time consuming, and the outcome is
unpredictable. In addition, courts outside the U.S. may be less willing to protect this information. Moreover, our competitors may independently
develop equivalent knowledge, methods and know-how.

If we are sued for infringing intellectual property rights of third parties, it will be costly and time consuming, and an unfavorable outcome in
that litigation would have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our commercial success depends upon our ability and the ability of our collaborators to develop, manufacture, market and sell our product
candidates and use our proprietary technologies without infringing the proprietary rights of third parties. Numerous U.S. and foreign issued
patents and pending patent applications, which are owned by third parties, exist in the fields in which we and our collaborators are developing
products. Because patent applications can take many years to issue, there may be currently pending applications, unknown to us, which may
later result in issued patents that our product candidates or proprietary technologies may infringe. We have not conducted a complete search of
existing patents to identify existing patents that our product candidates or proprietary technologies may inadvertently infringe.

We may be exposed to future litigation by the companies holding these patents or other third parties based on claims that our product candidates
and/or proprietary technologies infringe their intellectual property rights. If one of these patents was found to cover our product candidates,
proprietary technologies or their uses, we or our collaborators could be required to pay damages and could be unable to commercialize our
product candidates or use our proprietary technologies unless we or they obtained a license to the patent. In addition, while we are not currently
subject to pending litigation nor are we aware of any threatened litigation, third parties may contact us or our collaborators in the ordinary course
of business to bring certain patents to our attention. We and our collaborators evaluate all such communications on a case-by-case basis to assess
whether such patents cover our product candidates or proprietary technologies and if so, whether to seek a license from such third parties. A
license may not be available to us or our collaborators on acceptable terms, if at all.

There is a substantial amount of litigation involving patent and other intellectual property rights in the biotechnology and biopharmaceutical
industries generally. If a third party claims that we or our collaborators infringe on its technology, we may face a number of issues, including:

•  infringement and other intellectual property claims which, with or without merit, may be expensive and
time-consuming to litigate and may divert our management�s attention from our core business,

•  substantial damages for infringement, including treble damages and attorneys� fees, as well as damages for
products developed using allegedly infringing drug discovery tools or methods, which we may have to pay if a court
decides that the product or proprietary technology at issue infringes on or violates the third party�s rights,

•  a court prohibiting us from selling or licensing the product or using the proprietary technology unless the third
party licenses its technology to us, which it is not required to do,

•  if a license is available from the third party, we may have to pay substantial royalties, fees and/or grant cross
licenses to our technology, and

•  redesigning our products or processes so they do not infringe, which may not be possible or may require
substantial funds and time.

We have conducted searches of U.S. and foreign patents, but cannot guarantee that the searches were comprehensive and therefore whether any
of our product candidates or the methods of using, making or identifying our product candidates infringe the patents searched, or that other
patents do not exist that cover our product candidates or these methods. There may also be pending patent applications that are unknown to us
and may prevent us from marketing our product candidates. Other product candidates that we may develop, either internally or in collaboration
with others, could be subject to similar delays and uncertainties.
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Existing patents and patent applications covering adefovir or prodrugs of adefovir in the U.S. and foreign countries may prevent the
commercialization of pradefovir in the future.

Our product candidate pradefovir is a prodrug of adefovir. A third party, Gilead, has rights to another product called Hepsera that is a non-liver
specific prodrug of adefovir. We are aware of third party patents and patent applications in the U.S. and in European and other foreign countries
with claims to prodrugs of adefovir. These patents are scheduled to expire in September 2011 overseas and in 2014 in the U.S. Although we do
not believe that any valid claim covers pradefovir, we cannot guarantee this. If it is determined that patent claims are valid and cover pradefovir,
we may not be able to commercialize pradefovir in such countries, including those in Europe. Further, we are aware that a patent term extension
of one of these prodrug patents has been granted in multiple European countries based on the regulatory approval of Hepsera thereby extending
protection of Hepsera in those countries to September 2016. Additional third party patents covering Hepsera or adefovir may exist, and may
expire later than our expected date of regulatory approval in the country where the patent is in force.

Risks Related to Other Legal Matters

We may incur significant costs complying with environmental laws and regulations.

We use hazardous materials, including chemicals, biological agents and radioactive isotopes and compounds that could be dangerous to human
health and safety or the environment. As appropriate, we store these materials and wastes resulting from their use at our facility pending their
ultimate use or disposal. We currently contract with a third party to dispose of these materials and wastes. We are subject to a variety of federal,
state and local laws and regulations governing the use, generation, manufacture, storage, handling and disposal of these materials and wastes.
We may also incur significant costs complying with environmental laws and regulations adopted in the future.

We may incur substantial liabilities from any product liability claims if our insurance coverage for those claims is inadequate.

We face an inherent risk of product liability exposure related to the testing of our product candidates in human clinical trials, and will face an
even greater risk if we sell our product candidates commercially.  An individual may bring a liability claim against us if one of our product
candidates causes, or merely appears to have caused, an injury. If we cannot successfully defend ourselves against the product liability claim, we
will incur substantial liabilities. Regardless of merit or eventual outcome, liability claims may result in:

�  decreased demand for our product candidates,

�  injury to our reputation,

�  withdrawal of clinical trial participants,

�  costs of related litigation,

�  substantial monetary awards to patients or other claimants,

�  loss of revenues, and

�  the inability to commercialize our product candidates.

We have product liability insurance that covers our clinical trials, up to an annual aggregate limit of $10 million. We intend to expand our
insurance coverage to include the sale of commercial products if marketing approval is obtained for any of our product candidates. However,
insurance coverage is increasingly expensive. We may not be able to maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable cost and we may not be able to
obtain insurance coverage that will be adequate to satisfy any liability that may arise.
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If we use biological and hazardous materials in a manner that causes injury, we may be liable for damages.

Our research and development and manufacturing activities involve the use of biological and hazardous materials. Although we believe our
safety procedures for handling and disposing of these materials comply with federal, state and local laws and regulations, we cannot entirely
eliminate the risk of accidental injury or contamination from the use, storage, handling or disposal of these materials. If one of our employees
was accidentally injured from the use, storage, handling or disposal of these materials, the medical costs related to his or her treatment would be
covered by our workers� compensation insurance policy. While our property and casualty and general liability insurance policies specifically
exclude coverage for damages and fines arising from biological or hazardous waste exposure or contamination, we do carry separate pollution
legal liability coverage that is intended to cover third party claims for bodily injury, property damage and remediation costs. However, in the
event of contamination or injury, we could be held liable for damages or penalized with fines in an amount exceeding our insurance and/or
resources.

Risks Related to the Securities Markets and Investment in our Common Stock

Market volatility may affect our stock price and the value of your investment.

The market price for our common stock has been and is likely to continue to be volatile. In addition, the market price of our common stock may
fluctuate significantly in response to a number of factors, most of which we cannot control, including:

�  changes in the regulatory status of our product candidates, including the status and results of our development
activities,

�  events affecting Merck, Idenix or any future collaborators,

�  announcements of new products or technologies, commercial relationships or other events by us or our
competitors,

�  regulatory developments in the U.S. and foreign countries,

�  fluctuations in stock market prices and trading volumes of similar companies,

�  variations in our quarterly operating results,

�  changes in securities analysts� estimates of our financial performance,

�  changes in accounting principles,

�  issuances of new equity securities by us, pursuant to our effective shelf registration statements or otherwise,

�  sales of large blocks of our common stock, including sales by our executive officers, directors and significant
stockholders,

�  additions or departures of key personnel, and

�  discussion of us or our stock price by the financial and scientific press and in online investor communities.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of us, which may be beneficial to our
stockholders, more difficult and may prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management.

Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws may delay or prevent an acquisition of us or a change in our
management. These provisions include a classified board of directors, a prohibition on actions by written consent of our stockholders, and the
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ability of our board of directors to issue preferred stock without stockholder approval. In addition, because we are incorporated in Delaware, we
are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which prohibits stockholders owning in excess of 15%
of our outstanding voting stock
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from merging or combining with us. Although we believe these provisions collectively provide for an opportunity to receive higher bids by
requiring potential acquirers to negotiate with our board of directors, they would apply even if the offer may be considered beneficial by some
stockholders. In addition, these provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current
management by making it more difficult for stockholders to replace members of our board of directors, which is responsible for appointing the
members of our management.

We incur costs associated with regulatory compliance, and these costs could be significant.

 There are numerous regulatory requirements for public companies, including the provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and rules
adopted or proposed by the Securities and Exchange Commission and by the Nasdaq Stock Market. With regard to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, we
have and will continue to incur significant expense as we continue to address the implications of applicable rules and our operations relative
thereto, and as we work to respond to and comply with applicable requirements. Section 404 requires management to report on, and our
independent auditors to attest to, our internal controls. These laws and regulations could make it more difficult or more costly for us to obtain
certain types of insurance, including director and officer liability insurance, and we may be forced to accept reduced policy limits and coverage
or incur substantially higher costs to obtain the same or similar coverage. The impact of these events could also make it more difficult for us to
attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our board of directors, our board committees or as executive officers. We are presently evaluating
and monitoring developments with respect to these laws and regulations and cannot predict or estimate the amount or timing of additional costs
we may incur to respond to their requirements. Compliance with these rules could also result in continued diversion of management�s time and
attention, which could be disruptive to normal business operations. If we do not satisfactorily or timely comply with these requirements, possible
consequences could include sanction or investigation by regulatory authorities such as the Securities and Exchange Commission or the Nasdaq
Stock Market; fines and penalties; incomplete or late filing of our periodic reports, including our annual report on Form 10-K; or civil or
criminal liability. Our stock price and business could also be adversely affected.

If our executive officers, directors and largest stockholders choose to act together, they may be able to control our operations and act in a
manner that advances their best interests and not necessarily those of other stockholders.

Our executive officers, directors and holders of 5% or more of our outstanding common stock, beneficially owned approximately 67% of our
common stock as of September 30, 2007. As a result, these stockholders, acting together, are able to control all matters requiring approval by our
stockholders, including the election of directors and the approval of mergers or other business combination transactions. The interests of this
group of stockholders may not always coincide with our interests or the interests of other stockholders, and they may act in a manner that
advances their best interests and not necessarily those of other stockholders.

Future sales of our common stock may cause our stock price to decline.

A large portion of our shares are held by a small number of persons and investment funds. In addition, these persons and funds hold warrants to
purchase 4,044,480 shares of common stock that, if exercised, will result in these additional shares becoming available for sale. Moreover,
several of our stockholders and warrant holders have rights, subject to some conditions, to require us to file registration statements covering the
unregistered shares they currently hold or may acquire upon exercise of warrants, or to include these shares in registration statements that we
may file for ourselves or other stockholders. Under the CEFF, an institutional investor is committed to purchase up to $50 million of our
common stock over a 36 month period which commenced in December 2006, subject to certain conditions. Sales by these current and potential
future stockholders or warrant holders of a substantial number of shares could significantly reduce the market price of our common stock.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
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None.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.
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Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None.

Item 5. Other Information

None.

Item 6. Exhibits

Exhibit
Number Description

3.1(1) Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company.

3.2(2) Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company.

4.1(1) Form of Common Stock Certificate.

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32 Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

(1)  Incorporated by reference to the exhibit of the same number to the Company�s Registration Statement
on Form S-1 (No. 333-112437), originally filed on February 3, 2004.

(2)  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company�s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 2,
2007.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Date: November 7, 2007 By: /s/ John W. Beck
John W. Beck, C.P.A., Senior Vice President
of Finance, Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer (Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer)
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